FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
5/3/2023 9:16 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/4/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101956-4

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 38343-1-III
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Bruce Austin, Petitioner

V.

State of Washington, Respondent

Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 19-2-01509-2

The Honorable Judge Tony Hazel

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Relying on two Alaska convictions entered more than forty years ago, the State petitioned for civil commitment of Bruce Austin. Neither of the Alaska convictions qualified as a sexually violent offense under Washington law. Accordingly, the evidence was insufficient for commitment. The commitment order must be reversed, and the case remanded for dismissal.

DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED

Petitioner Bruce Austin asks the Court to review the Court of Appeals' Opinion entered on April 4, 2023. This case presents one issue: Was the evidence insufficient to prove that Mr. Austin has been convicted of a sexually violent offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the early 1980s, Bruce Austin entered no-contest pleas to two Alaska offenses. Ex. 3, 4; RP (3/19/21) 20. One

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached.

conviction was for sexual abuse of a minor under former AS 11.41.440(2) (1981). The other was for first-degree sexual assault under former AS 11.41.410(3) (1981).

In 2019, the State of Washington petitioned for civil commitment. CP 1. It alleged that the two Alaska convictions qualified as sexually violent offenses.² CP 1, 108-109.

Prior to trial, the State sought a ruling that each Alaska conviction was comparable to a sexually violent offense under Washington law. CP 108-109. It argued that Alaska's sexual abuse of a minor under Alaska law was akin to indecent liberties under Washington law as it stood in 1981. CP 109. It also argued that first-degree sexual assault under Alaska law was akin to first-degree statutory rape under Washington law at the time of Mr. Austin's conviction. CP 109.

The State conceded that the offenses were not legally comparable to sexually violent offenses under Washington law.

² It also alleged that Mr. Austin had committed a "recent overt act." *See* RCW 71.09.020(13).

CP 114-115; RP (3/19/21) 19. However, it argued that the court should find comparability based on the underlying facts of each offense. CP 115-119; RP (3/19/21) 25-26.

The court found the offenses comparable and entered written findings and conclusions. CP 538-540; RP (3/19/21) 38-39. In reaching this decision, the court "looked at Mr. Austin's conduct at the time the [Alaska] offenses occurred." CP 538.

The record of the Alaska convictions did not include evidence regarding the marital status of Mr. Austin and the underaged person against whom he had offended. Despite this, the court found that the two were not married. CP 539.

Nonmarriage was an essential element under Washington law but was not an element of either Alaska offense. CP 539.

The court also found that both Alaska offenses were "sexually motivated." CP 543, 565. Presumably, the court intended this finding to mean that the offenses were undertaken for sexual gratification, an essential element of indecent liberties in Washington. CP 114. Sexual gratification was not an

essential element of Alaska's statute criminalizing sexual abuse of a minor. CP 114.

Following a bench trial, the court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 541-566. These findings incorporated the court's pretrial ruling that each Alaska offense qualified as a "sexually violent offense." CP 542-543, 564.

Based on this conclusion, the court decided that Mr. Austin had been convicted of a "crime of sexual violence." CP 542-543.

The court entered an order of commitment. CP 566. Mr. Austin appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. He now seeks review of that decision.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. NEITHER OF MR. AUSTIN'S ALASKA OFFENSES WOULD "BE" A QUALIFYING WASHINGTON OFFENSE.

Bruce Austin has never been convicted of a sexually violent offense. His two Alaska sex offenses were not the same as any sexually violent offense in Washington. Because of this, Mr. Austin does not meet criteria for civil commitment.

A. Foreign convictions do not qualify a person for commitment unless the elements of the foreign offense are the same as the elements of a sexually violent offense in Washington.

Civil commitment requires proof that a person has been convicted of sexually violent offense. RCW 71.09.020(19). The definition of "sexually violent offense" includes a list of crimes, outlined in RCW 71.09.020(18)(a).³

The definition also includes certain out-of-state convictions. To justify civil commitment, an out-of-state conviction must be "for a felony *offense* that under the laws of this state would *be* a sexually violent offense." RCW 71.09.020(18)(b) (emphasis added).

When considering convictions for out-of-state offenses, the statute's plain language prohibits inquiry into the facts of

³ This list includes "rape in the first degree, rape in the second degree by forcible compulsion, rape of a child in the first or second degree, statutory rape in the first or second degree, indecent liberties by forcible compulsion, indecent liberties against a child under age fourteen, incest against a child under age fourteen, or child molestation in the first or second degree." RCW 71.09.020(18)(a).

the prior conviction. Accordingly, commitment based on a foreign conviction is permissible only when the two offenses have the same elements.

Statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Wright v. Lyft, Inc.*, 189 Wn.2d 718, 722, 406 P.3d 1149 (2017). The fundamental objective is to give effect to the legislature's intent. *Id.* The plain meaning of a statute controls. *Id.*, at 723.

When a statute's language is unambiguous, courts "look only to that language to determine the legislative intent without considering outside sources." *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). Language is unambiguous "when it is not susceptible to two or more interpretations." *Id.*, at 726.

Courts "cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that language." *Id.*, at 727. Instead, courts must "assume the legislature means exactly what it says." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Here, the statutory language is unambiguous. It requires the elements of the foreign offense to be the same as the elements of the Washington offense.

A foreign conviction qualifies a person for commitment if it is for a felony offense that would "be" a sexually violent offense.⁴ The word "be" means, *inter alia*, "to equal in meaning," or "to have identity with." *See* "Be," *Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary*, Merriam-Webster (2023).⁵

Thus, under the plain meaning of the statute, the foreign *offense* must be *the same* as a sexually violent offense in Washington. It is not the foreign *conviction* that is to be examined for equivalence; rather, it is the *offenses* that must be analyzed. RCW 71.09.020(18).

⁴ The word "would" is an auxiliary verb expressing a contingency or possibility. *See* "Would." *Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary* (accessed 4/18/23).

⁵ Available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/be, (accessed 4/18/23).

This precludes consideration of any facts. The plain and unambiguous language of the statute permits only examination of the legal elements of each *offense*, without regard to the facts of the conviction. The foreign offense must be the same as the Washington offense.

The Court of Appeals selects a different definition of the word "be." *See* Opinion, p. 9. According to the Court of Appeals, a foreign conviction would "be" a sexually violent offense if it "constitute[s], or belong[s] to the same class" as such an offense. Opinion, p. 9.

According to the court, this means that the facts of the conviction may be analyzed. Opinion, p. 10. But this ignores the directive that the foreign *offense*—not the conviction—would "be" a sexually violent offense. RCW 71.09.020(18).

Furthermore, if the Court of Appeals' approach is a viable interpretation of the statute, then the language is ambiguous. If the language is ambiguous, it must be interpreted in Mr. Austin's favor. *Matter of Det. of Marcum*, 189 Wn.2d 1,

8, 403 P.3d 16 (2017). Statutes that involve a deprivation of liberty must be strictly and narrowly construed. *Id*.

Thus, if the statute is ambiguous, it must be interpreted to prohibit consideration of facts that might broaden the range of qualifying foreign offenses. *Id.* This is a reasonable interpretation, suggesting the legislature's recognition that proof of the facts underlying a foreign conviction will create a hardship for both parties, especially where (as here), the foreign conviction was entered 40 years ago.

In addition, it is "firmly established... that where the legislature uses different language in the same statute, differing meanings are intended." *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 475-476, 98 P.3d 795 (2004).

Here, the legislature used "different language" to differentiate between two kinds of prior convictions. *See* RCW 71.09.020(18). Because "the legislature use[d] different language in the same statute, differing meanings are intended." *Id*.

The different language comes in a provision allowing the use of (1) convictions under obsolete Washington statutes, and (2) out-of-state convictions. The different language shows the legislature's intent to apply different tests to these two categories. *Id*.

The provision regarding out-of-state convictions does not use the word "comparable." Instead, it requires proof that the out-of-state conviction is for an offense that would "be" a sexually violent offense. RCW 71.09.020(18)(b).

This contrasts with the test for convictions under obsolete statutes. RCW 71.09.020(18)(b). Such crimes qualify if they are "comparable" to a sexually violent offense under current statutes. RCW 71.09.020(18)(b).

Given this difference, the test for out-of-state offenses must be something other than the traditional factual and legal comparability test used for obsolete Washington statutes. *Id.* The language suggests a stricter standard.

The word "comparable" means "similar," "like," or "capable of or suitable for comparison." *See* "Comparable," *Merriam-Webster.com* (2023). The legislature's use of the word "comparable" suggests that *similarity* is sufficient when measuring convictions under obsolete Washington statutes.

By contrast, the requirement that an out-of-state conviction would "be" a sexually violent offense under Washington law requires more than similarity. RCW 71.09.020(18)(b) (emphasis added). The legislature's use of the verb "to be" suggests that the two offenses must be the same, not merely similar.

The different language used in the statute must be given "differing meanings." *Costich*, 152 Wn.2d at 475–76. Legal identity is the sole test for out-of-state offenses. Courts may not

⁶ Available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/comparable (accessed 4/18/23).

examine the conduct that gave rise to the out-of-state conviction.

Instead, the State must show that the out-of-state statute describes an offense that is the same as a sexually violent offense under Washington law. Only if the essential elements are the same would conviction for the out-of-state conviction "be" a sexually violent offense under Washington law. RCW 71.09.020(18)(b).

B. Neither of Mr. Austin's prior convictions were for an offense having the same elements as a sexually violent offense in Washington.

Here, the State relied on two 40-year-old Alaska convictions. CP 108-119. These were convictions for first-degree sexual assault and sexual abuse of a minor.

The State conceded that neither Alaska conviction was legally the same as a qualifying Washington offense. The court agreed and found that both convictions were for offenses that were not the same as a sexually violent offense. CP 539.

This ends the analysis. Neither Alaska conviction was for an offense that would "be" a sexually violent offense under Washington law. RCW 71.09.020(18)(b). Having failed the legal equivalence test, the Alaska convictions cannot justify civil commitment.

II. MR. AUSTIN'S ALASKA CONVICTIONS WERE NOT FACTUALLY COMPARABLE TO A SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSE IN WASHINGTON.

Mr. Austin's Alaska convictions were not comparable to any Washington offense that qualifies as a sexually violent offense. Accordingly, the evidence was insufficient for conviction.

A. Any examination of factual comparability is limited to facts that were admitted, stipulated to, or proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Instead of limiting its analysis to the elements of each offense, the court purported to examine the facts underlying each Alaska conviction. Even under this test, the Alaska convictions did not qualify as sexually violent offenses.

In criminal cases, a comparability test rather than a legal equivalence test applies to foreign convictions. RCW 9.94A.525(3). This comparability test has a factual and a legal component. *State v. Howard*, 15 Wn.App.2d 725, 731-732, 476 P.3d 1087 (2020), *review denied*, 197 Wn.2d 1006, 483 P.3d 783 (2021).

Where offenses are not legally comparable, the court may make a limited factual inquiry. *Id.* However, "the elements of the charged crime must remain the cornerstone of the comparison." *In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d 249, 255, 111 P.3d 837 (2005). Accordingly, "courts consider only facts that were admitted, stipulated to, or proved beyond a reasonable doubt." *Howard*, 15 Wn.App.2d at 732 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Here, the court's comparability finding rested on "facts" that were not admitted, stipulated to, or proved during the Alaska proceedings.

B. Mr. Austin's Alaska conviction for sexual abuse of a minor was not factually comparable to indecent liberties in Washington.

The trial court correctly found that Mr. Austin's prior Alaska convictions were not legally comparable to a sexually violent offense. CP 539. Because the offenses are not legally comparable, the sufficiency of the evidence turns on factual comparability.

The State argued—and the trial court found—that Mr. Austin's Alaska conviction for sexual abuse of a minor was factually comparable to Washington's crime of indecent liberties against a child under 14. CP 108-119; *see* former AS 11.41.440(2) (1981) *and* former RCW 9A.88.100(b) (1981). This is incorrect. The Alaska conviction was not factually comparable to indecent liberties.

Proof of sexual gratification. In 1981, Washington's indecent liberties statute required proof of "sexual contact." Former RCW 9A.88.100(1) (1981). This obligated the State to show that the contact was "done for the purpose of gratifying

sexual desire of either party." Former RCW 9A.88.100(2) (1981).

At the time of Mr. Austin's plea, the Alaska statute defining sexual abuse of a minor did not require proof of sexual gratification. Former AS 11.41.440(2) (1981); former AS 11.81.900(b)(51)(A) (1981).

The Alaska Court of Appeals *later* interpreted the statute to require proof of contact "intended to result in either the sexual arousal or sexual gratification of the actor or the victim." *Flink v. State*, 683 P.2d 725, 733 (Alaska Ct. App 1984) (Singleton and Coats, JJ, for majority). However, this interpretation did not arise until 1984, three years *after* Mr. Austin's guilty plea.⁷ *Id*.

⁷ Following *Flink*, the Alaska legislature redefined "sexual contact," removing any requirement of sexual gratification but allowing an exception for "normal caretaker responsibilities." *See Peratrovich v. State*, 903 P.2d 1071, 1074 (Alaska Ct. App. 1995) (citing former AS 11.81.900(b)(53)(B)(i)).

Here, the trial court did not mention the sexual gratification element, either in its oral ruling or in its written findings. RP (3/19/21) 37-39; CP 539, 541-566. However, the court did find that the Alaska offenses were "sexually motivated." CP 543, 565. Presumably, the court intended this to mean that they were committed for the purpose of sexual gratification.

Sexual gratification was not established during the Alaska proceeding. The Alaska charging document did not allege that Mr. Austin committed sexual abuse of a minor for the purpose of sexual gratification. Ex. 1. Nothing suggests that Mr. Austin's no-contest plea included an admission to sexual gratification. Ex. 3. Nor is there any indication that the Alaska court heard evidence or made a finding that the offense was committed for the purpose of sexual gratification. Ex. 1-4.

The Court of Appeals declined to reach this argument.

Opinion, p. 3.

Sexual gratification was not "admitted, stipulated to, or proved beyond a reasonable doubt" when Mr. Austin was convicted and sentenced in Alaska. *Howard*, 15 Wn.App.2d at 732 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Accordingly, the Alaska conviction was not factually comparable to a sexually violent offense under Washington law.

The nonmarriage element. The Alaska crime was not factually comparable for another reason as well. Washington's indecent liberties statute required proof that the victim was "not [the] spouse" of the defendant. Former RCW 9A.88.100(1) (1981). By contrast, the Alaska statute did not include a nonmarriage requirement. Former AS 11.41.440(2) (1981).

The non-marriage element was not established during the Alaska proceeding. The Alaska charging document did not mention this non-marriage element. Ex. 1. There is no suggestion that Mr. Austin made any statements about his marital status when he entered his no-contest plea. Ex. 2, 4.

There is no indication that the court heard evidence and made findings on the subject. Ex. 1-4.

The record does not show that the nonmarriage element of indecent liberties was "admitted, acknowledged, or proved" during the Alaska prosecution. *Id.* The two crimes are not factually comparable.

Furthermore, even if permitted to consider extrinsic evidence (beyond facts that were admitted, stipulated to, or proved), the court did not have before it proof of the non-marriage element. *See In re Pers. Restraint Petition of Crawford*, 150 Wn.App. 787, 798, 209 P.3d 507 (2009).

In *Crawford*, the court of appeals addressed a comparability finding involving the defendant's prior rape of his 7-year-old niece. *Id.*, at 797. The court concluded that the State had failed to prove the non-marriage element. *Id.*, at 798. This was so even though the State "was unaware of any jurisdiction in the United States that would allow a legal marriage between a 25-year-old male and a 7-year-old niece."

Id. Even considering the age of the parties, the Court of Appeals found that the out-of-state crime was not factually comparable. *Id.*

Here, the State attempted to distinguish *Crawford* by arguing that *Crawford* did not involve a same-sex marriage. CP 117-118. However, the State did not cite any authority permitting courts to apply different rules to same-sex marriages when conducting a comparability analysis. CP 117-118.

Instead, the State pointed out that Alaska and Washington did not recognize same-sex marriages in 1981. Per 118. But the statute did not require that the marriage be recognized as legitimate in Alaska or Washington. Former RCW 9A.88.100(1) (1981).

Under the plain language of the statute, the State was required to prove that the minor was not the defendant's

⁸ It also noted that the Supreme Court has since required "all 50 States to perform and recognize same sex marriages." CP 118 (citing *Obergefell v. Hodges*, 576 U.S. 644, 135 S.Ct. 2584, 192 L.Ed.2d 609 (2015).

"spouse." Former RCW 9A.88.100(1) (1981). A marriage recognized in another jurisdiction—including another country, political subdivision, or culture—would be sufficient to prevent conviction under the statute.

Even if the State were permitted to present extrinsic evidence to show factual comparability, an inference of non-marriage would arise only if the State proved that Mr. Austin and J.L. had never traveled to a jurisdiction where same-sex child marriages were recognized.

There is at least some possibility that such marriages were recognized somewhere in the world in 1981. Legal samesex marriages existed long before they were constitutionally required by the U.S. Supreme Court. See Jeffrey S. Jacobi, Two Spirits, Two Eras, Same Sex: For A Traditionalist Perspective on Native American Tribal Same-Sex Marriage Policy, 39 U. Mich. J.L. Reform 823, 834 (2006) (discussing

⁹ Obergefell, supra.

two-spirit marriages). In 1981, some jurisdictions permitted child marriages. As late as 2012, one out of nine girls in the developing world are married before age 15. *Marrying Too Young*, p. 6, United Nations Population Fund (2012).¹⁰

The Court of Appeals did not address the State's failure to prove that marriage was impossible. Opinion, pp. 17-18.

Instead, the court focused on Alaska and Washington, concluding that "same sex-marriage was not legal in either Washington or Alaska in 1981." Opinion, p. 18.

This may be true, but it misses the point. The Washington statute refers only to the perpetrator's "spouse." Former RCW 9A.88.100(1) (1981). There is no requirement that the marriage be legally recognized in Washington (or in Alaska).

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