FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/2/2023 11:41 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101956-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRUCE AUSTIN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CAROL J MURRAY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 19668 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Ste 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430 OID No. 91094

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

Op. at 9-10.

Consequently, because "compare" and "would be" have the same meaning, the Court properly held that the statute does not impose

a stricter standard or require a different test than is applied in other circumstances. Op. at 11.

In the alternative, Austin argues that the statute is ambiguous and therefore "must be interpreted to prohibit consideration of facts that might broaden the range of qualifying offenses." PFR at 9. Austin ignores the Court's primary role when interpreting a statute, which is to "ascertain and give effect to the legislature's intent." *Ski Acres v. Kittitas Cy.*, 118 Wn.2d at 856.

The stated intent and purpose of the SVP statute is to ensure the commitment of and provide treatment to persons who meet the definition of a sexually violent predator in order to protect the community. RCW 71.09.010. The State has legitimate interests in treating sexual predators and protecting the community from their sexually violent behavior. *In re Detention of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 27-33, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). As the Court of Appeals recognized, treating offenders who committed sexually violent offenses in other states differently from those

who committed similar offenses in Washington would undermine the legislative intent of the statute and would lead to an absurd result. Op. at 10-11.

B. Applying Washington's Two-Part test, Austin's Alaska Conviction of Sexual Assault in the First Degree was Factually Comparable to Statutory Rape in the First Degree.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that Austin's Alaska conviction of sexual assault in the first degree was factually comparable to statutory rape in the first degree, a "sexually violent offense" under RCW 71.09.020(17)(a).

The trial court first examined the legal prong. CP 538. The State conceded and the court agreed the elements of Alaska's sexual assault in the first-degree statute were broader than the elements of Washington's statutory rape in the first degree, as those statutes existed in 1981. CP 538. Consequently, the court turned to the factual comparability part of the test. CP 539.

In determining factual comparability, the trial court "looked at Mr. Austin's conduct at the time the offenses occurred to determine whether his conduct under the Washington law, as

existed at the time, constituted a sexually violent offense" as defined under RCW 71.09.020(17). CP 538. The trial court limited its factual analysis to conduct Austin stipulated and admitted to as charged in the indictment. VRP 39. The trial court reached the conclusion that Austin's Alaska conviction was factually comparable to statutory rape in the first degree. CP 539. The record supports this conclusion.

Austin entered a no contest plea to the indictment, Count III, which read:

That during the period from March 1981, through May 19, 1981, at or near Anchorage, in the Third Judicial District, State of Alaska, Bruce Lawrence Austin, being 16 years of age or older, did unlawfully engage in sexual penetration with J.L., age 8, by inserting J.L.'s penis into his mouth. All of which is a class A felony offense being contrary to and in violation of AS 11.41.410(a)(3) and against the peace and dignity of the State of Alaska. CP 139-40.

In Alaska, defendants have a right to enter a plea of "no contest," even when they maintain innocence. *Miller v. State*, 617 P.2d 516, 518-19 (Alaska 1980). "[A] plea of no contest 'is

an admission of every essential element of the offense wellpleaded in the charg[ing] [document]." Scott v. State, 928 P.2d 1234, 1238 (Alaska 2009).

By entering a "no contest" plea to the indictment (CP 134), Austin admitted that J.L was eight-years-old and that he (Austin) placed J.L.'s penis into his mouth. His admission supported factual comparability between the Alaska and Washington statutes. Alaska's legislature included fellatio in its definition of sexual penetration. AS 11.81.900 (53) (1981 version).

In comparison, statutory rape in the first degree was defined as: "A person over thirteen years of age is guilty of statutory rape in the first degree when such person engages in sexual intercourse with another person who is less than eleven years old." (RCW 9A.44.080(1), 1981 version)⁶

Similar to Alaska's sexual penetration definition, Washington defined sexual intercourse to include fellatio,

18

^{6 1979} ex.s. c 244 § 5; 1975 Wash. Laws, 1st ex. sess., ch. 14, § 7, codified as former RCWA 9.79.200. (emphasis added.)

defining it as "any act of sexual contact between persons involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex." RCW 9A.44.010 (1)(c) (1981 version).

Here, the trial court found factual comparability based on Austin's admission that he placed his mouth on J.L.'s penis, constituting sexual penetration under Washington law, and that the age differential was also factually comparable: J.L. was eight-years-old and Austin's date of birth on the indictment and judgement established he was 25 years old. CP 128, 132. The trial court also inferred that Austin and J.L. were not married. CP 538-540, VRP 39.

Washington's statutory rape statute did not expressly include the non-marital element, but our Washington Supreme Court determined proof of non-marriage was an implied element. *State v. Stockwell*, 159 Wash. 2d 394, 399, 150 P.3d 82, 85 (2007). Like *Stockwell*, Austin argues that the non-marriage element was not proven during the 1981 Alaska proceeding.

While the *Stockwell* Court held that non-marriage was an implied element of statutory rape in the first degree, it stated, "it is simply inconceivable that the legislature would expect that children 10 years old or less would marry." *Id.* at 399.⁷ It follows that the legislature never intended a child J.L.'s age, age eight, would be married. As the Court of Appeals recognized, "Austin's argument would lead to absurd results. Clearly in 1981, the Alaska Legislature did not expect an eight-year-old boy to be legally married to his 25-year-old neighbor." Op. at 17.

Additionally, in 1981, same-sex marriages were not legally recognized in either Alaska or Washington. *See*, *Singer v*. *Hara*, 11 Wash. App. 247, 522 P.2d 1187, 1189 (1974) (held Washington's marriage statute limited marriages to be between a man and a woman). *Hanby v. Parnell*, 56 F.Supp.3d 1056 (Alaska App. 2014) (Alaska's constitutional and statutory

⁷ The *Stockwell* Court's reasoning is consistent with the 2021 amendments removing the non-marriage element from sexual offense statutes against minors. RCW 9A.44.

provisions prohibiting same-sex marriages violated fundamental rights under the U.S. and Alaska Constitutions).

Here, based on the State's extensive research, the trial court concluded, "beyond a reasonable doubt," that eight-year-old J.L. was not married at the time of the offense. VRP 39. The trial court relied on the conviction documents and legal research establishing that same-sex marriages were not yet legally recognized. VRP 39.

In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals distinguished *In re Pers. Restraint Petition of Crawford*, 150 Wn. App. 787, 209 P.3d 507, 513 (2009). In *Crawford*, the Court ruled Kentucky's Sexual Abuse First Degree statute was neither legally nor factually comparable to Washington's Child Molestation First Degree statute. *Id.* at 796-97. The statutes were not legally comparable because only Washington's statute required the victim be under 12 years old and not married to the perpetrator. Because the statutes were not legally comparable, the Court examined the Kentucky offense's underlying facts.

Although Crawford admitted to "digitally penetrating the vagina of his 7-year-old niece," the Court held the Kentucky and Washington statutes were not factually comparable since the prosecution failed to research the non-marriage element. *Id.* at 797-98.

Here, unlike in *Crawford*, the relevant history of marital law was before the trial court. Also, *Crawford* did not address same-sex marriages, rather, the *Crawford* Court addressed the issue of providing proof of marital status only between a male and a female. Marriages between a man and woman have a longstanding history of being legally recognized. *See generally, Anderson v. King County,* 158 Wn.2d 1, 25-29, 138 P.3 963 (2006), *abrogated by, Obergefell v. Hodges,* 576 U.S. 644, 135 S.Ct. 2584 (2015).

In Austin's case, the indictment and the judgments established that J.L. and Austin identified as male. CP 128-29, 132-35. The indictment refers to J.L.'s penis and Austin inserting *his* mouth over *his* [J.L.'s] penis. CP 128. The Judgment and

Order on Probation also references Austin as identifying as male.

CP 132-35.

The trial court had sufficient information from the indictment and case law to reach its conclusion, beyond a reasonable doubt, that an eight-year-old boy could not be legally married to an adult male. The court's reliance on case law and legal reasoning does not constitute "extrinsic evidence" as Austin claims.

Further, Austin cites no authority that if there is any "possibility" same sex marriages were recognized someplace else in the world, Austin and J.L. could have traveled there to get married. PFR at 21. This strained hypothetical would be an insurmountable, unreasonable task for the State to research. Moreover, it is senseless to entertain the notion that Austin would travel outside of Alaska with an unrelated minor to locate a "possible" jurisdiction to be married.

Accordingly, the trial court properly examined, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, that the Alaska and Washington's

child rape statutes were factually comparable, as the statutes existed in 1981. CP 539.

C. The Trial Court Properly Applied the Two-Part Comparability Test in Determining that Austin's Alaska Conviction of Sexual Assault of a Minor was Factually Comparable to Indecent Liberties Against a Child under 14.

As was the case with Austin's other Alaska conviction, the State conceded and the trial court agreed, that Austin's Alaska conviction of sexual assault of a minor was not legally comparable to indecent liberties against a child under 14 as the Alaska statute was broader than Washington's statute. CP 539. The trial court then analyzed factual comparability. Austin entered a no contest plea to Sexual Abuse of a Minor, Count II, of the Alaska indictment, which read:

That during the period from March 1981, through May 19, 1981, at or near Anchorage, in the Third Judicial District, State of Alaska, Bruce Lawrence Austin, being 16 years of age or older, did unlawfully engage in sexual contact with J.L., age 8, by touching J.L.'s penis. All of which is a class C felony offense being contrary to and in violation of AS 11.41.440(a)(2) and against the peace and dignity of the State of Alaska. CP 128.

By entering a "no contest" plea to the indictment (CP 134), Austin admitted J.L. was age eight, meeting Washington's indecent liberties requirement under age 14. He also admitted he unlawfully engaged in sexual contact with J.L. by touching J.L.'s penis. CP 128. This admission implies sexual contact for the purpose of sexual gratification. *Flink v. State*, 683 P.2d 725, 733 (Alaska App. 1984) (*superseded by statute, as stated in, Peratrovich v. State*, 903 P.2d 1071, 1074-77. Alaska 1995).

Both Alaska and Washington statutory schemes required sexual contact to include the touching of the sexual or intimate body parts of another person. Washington's definition of sexual contact explicitly stated that the touching be for purposes of sexual gratification, but Alaska's definition did not. However, the *Flink* Court directly addressed the 1981 definition of sexual

⁸ Alaska defined sexual contact as the "intentional touching, directly or through clothing, by the defendant of the victim's genitals, anus, or female breast; or the defendant intentionally causing the victim to touch directly or through clothing, the defendant's or victim's genitals, anus, or female breast." AS Sec. 11.81.900 (51), (1981 Version). Washington defined sexual contact as "any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party." RCW 9A.44.010 (1981 Version).

contact. Flink was convicted by jury of sexual abuse of a minor and contributing to the delinquency of a minor, both statutes prohibited sexual contact with a child. Sexual contact was a required element the State had to prove at trial. *Id.* at 726.

On appeal, Flink argued the statutes were overbroad and vague. More specifically, he argued the definition of sexual contact sanctioned innocent and culpable conduct. *Id.* at 728. He contended that the Court should interpret the phrase "sexual contact" to require the conduct be for a sexual motive or purpose. *Id.* at 729.

In addressing the issue, the *Flink* Court turned its attention to the legislative intent and history of the statutes, particularly in reference to the phrase "sexual contact." *Id.* at 729-32. Ascertaining that the legislative commentary was silent, the *Flink* Court interpreted sexual contact as inferring sexual motive or purpose, noting that sexual abuse requires sexual contact. *Flink Id.* at 733.

Austin contends that *Flink* undermines the trial court's factual comparability analysis. On the contrary, *Flink* supports it. *Flink's* reasoning should not be discounted simply because it was decided nearly three years after Austin entered his plea. PFR at 16. In *Flink*, sexual gratification was not an "element" asserted in a charging document. *See, Id.* at 729. The same is true in Washington.

In Washington, sexual gratification was (and remains to be) a definitional term clarifying the meaning of sexual contact "such that it excludes inadvertent touching or contact from being a crime." *See, State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wash. 2d 22, 34, 93 P.3d 133, 139 (2004); *See also, State v. T.E.H.*, 91 Wn. App. 908, 915, 960 P.2d 441, 445 (1998). Similarly, *Flink* inferred sexual gratification within the meaning of sexual contact to ensure that innocent conduct was not punished. *Flink*, at 733.

Here, Austin was not penalized for innocent or inadvertent conduct, rather, he admitted that he committed sexual abuse

against J.L. and that the sexual contact was intentional⁹ and unlawful.¹⁰ CP 128. This admission counters Austin's claim that "nothing suggests" he admitted sexual gratification in the no contest plea. PFR at 17. It also contradicts Austin's argument that the trial court relied on "extrinsic evidence" in concluding Austin's conduct had a sexual motive or purpose. Importantly, the appellate court declined to reach Austin's claim regarding proof of sexual gratification because it properly determined Austin's other Alaska conviction was a "sexually violent offense." Op. at 3. Since that holding effectively renders discussion of this Alaska conviction moot, Austin's arguments here are unworthy of further review by this Court.

Nonetheless, the trial court properly implied Austin admitted to sexual gratification via his no-contest plea to sexual

⁹ Intentional conduct was included in the Alaska definition of sexual contact.

¹⁰ Sexual Abuse of a Minor was statutorily defined as (a) a person committing the crime of sexual abuse of a minor if, being 16 years of age or older he... (2) engages in sexual contact with a person who is under 13 years of age or aids, induces, causes or encourages a person under 13 years of age to engage in sexual contact with another person. AS 11.41.440 (1981 Version). It did not include the term "unlawful," which Austin admitted. His admission of "unlawful" conduct is consistent with the holding in *Flink*.

abuse of a minor and reasonably inferred the non-marriage element as argued in IV, A, *supra*. Austin's 1981 Alaska conviction for sexual abuse of a minor is comparable to indecent liberties against a child under fourteen. This Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed the plain language of RCW 71.09.02 (17), determining that the language did not require a stricter test for out-of-state convictions than the traditional two-part comparability test.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed that Alaska and Washington's rape statutes were factually comparable and the trial court properly inferred Austin and the victim were not married based on the marriage laws as existed in 1981.

The Court of Appeals decision is well reasoned, consistent with settled principles of statutory construction, and provides no basis for this Court's review. Review should be denied.

This document contains 4692 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.